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Review of Operations  
  
Financial Position 

Key elements of the result are: 

• Revenue increased by 7% 

• Profit before Interest, Tax, depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment (EBITDA) decreased by 71% 

• Loss attributable to members increased by 29%.  

Management considers EBITDA and EBITA to be key 
relevant measures in which operations are reviewed for 
performance. 

A$000’s 2017 2016 

Revenue 

EBITDA 

22,119 

388 

20,599 

1,361 

Depreciation 

EBITA 

(399) 

(11) 

(494) 

867 

Net Interest 

Amortisation of intangibles 

Impairment of intangibles 

Income Tax Expense 

Profit/(loss) for the year after tax 

(70) 

(2,553) 

(11) 

(135) 

(2,780) 

(70) 

(2,927) 

(30) 

(165) 

(2,325) 

Attributable to non-controlling 
interests 

Profit/(loss) attributable to 
members 

(3) 
 

(2,777) 

180 
 

(2,145) 

 

Overview 

The demand and cost challenges facing the global 
healthcare market have not changed much over the 
last few years.  These health challenges are complex 
and interrelated. A multi- faceted approach needs to be 
adopted in order to address them.  Our experience and 
extensible technology platforms allow us to respond to 
these trends through our innovative solutions. 

We were once again successfully audited and 
recertified by an independent auditor as an ISO 9001 
and ISMS compliant organisation. We also continue to 
retain our Microsoft Gold Partnership. This is a testament 
to our long-term commitment to quality. 

 

 

 

 

 

Regional Segmentation 

A$000’s 2017 2016 

Revenue 

New Zealand 

Australia 

India 

United States of America 

 

13,403 

3,035 

574 

5,136 

 

12,099 

3,265 

252 

4,993 

Inter–Segment Elimination (29) (10) 

Total 22,119 20,599 

EBITDA 

New Zealand 

Australia 

India 

United States of America 

Inter–Segment Elimination 

 

473 

1,466 

19 

(1,401) 

(169) 

 

593 

1,302 

(73) 

(290) 

(171) 

Total 388 1,361 
 

A. New Zealand 

In New Zealand, we continue to progress with our 
transition of customers from Medtech32 to the Evolution 
product.  Feedback from customers who have made the 
switch, has been very favourable and the interest in 
moving to this new application continues to grow.  There 
are also several new market segments that are being 
targeted in terms of the Specialists and Allied Health 
Groups. 

Usage of the ManageMyHealth suite of products is also 
growing with a number of new initiatives being explored.  
We are about to embark on a pilot of the Chronic Care 
management solution delivered through 
MangeMyHealth. 

B. Australia 

Whilst Australia has declined in revenue, mainly due to 
one-off projects, we have been busy rationalizing our 
product suite and promoting the implementation of 
Evolution. 

There has also been greater investment in leadership 
change, with increased senior technical staff to improve 
customer experience.  Customer acquisition is also being 
revitalized with new segments being explored. 

It is already yielding traction and the strategy would be 
to increase momentum of the activities. 
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C. India 

India is on the verge of going digital in every domain 
including Healthcare. As part of Digital India Campaign, 
we are engaging with healthcare institutions of national 
importance, corporate hospitals and insurance 
companies in their journey of creating “one patient one 
record”. 

Medtech has already digitized over 29 million patient 
records in number of hospitals.  This offers opportunities to 
cross-sell other solutions such as ManageMyHealth, 
Telehealth and Smartcard solutions to those same 
customers. 

India has huge market potential for the shared care 
solution of ManageMyHealth of connecting healthcare 
providers with the patients across the various delivery 
paths and continuum of care. The ManageMyHealth 
mobile app and Kiosk will be launched into India in the 
upcoming year. 

D.  United States of America 

The ConSova brand continues to be strong throughout 
multiple industries.  Our channel relationships strengthen 
with the leading premier brokers, group purchasing 
organizations and private equity firms.  Collaboration is a 
theme in where Consova is working with other service 
providers- some of the services include medical and 
pharmacy audits as our clients are requesting multiple 
service offerings.  Consova is also innovating our existing 
enterprise solution to a SaaS solution, which will be 
completed by the end of 2017 and will leverage the 
ManageMyHealth platform. 

The ManageMyHealth platform is broken out into two 
service offerings; Data as a Service (DaaS) and Virtual 
Health Delivery System.  The platform integrates multiple 
applications and devices, as the solution is agnostic to 

the type of EMRs, Video Conferencing solutions, 
scheduling systems, etc.   This is the solution that we see 
significant opportunities and  will help propel the patient 
to consumer revolution. 

Outlook 

Early in 2017, we delisted from the Australian Stock 
exchange, as we enter a new era at Medtech. This will 
enable us to reduce administrative compliances and 
costs.  

The upcoming year is indeed a very exciting period for 
the Group with the upcoming launch of additional 
mobile solutions and browser solutions. After a period of 
investing in the US and India, we are at the cusp of 
monetising on these opportunities. 

We are passionate about making a positive impact on 
the future of healthcare and continuously strive to 
promote the quality of patient care through 
technological innovation. Most importantly, this is our 
ongoing contribution to improving the health and 
wellness of people. 

Finally, I would like to thank my Board colleagues and 
team for their hard work and valued contributions and to 
our shareholders for their continuing support.  

 

 

 

Vino Ramayah 
Executive Chairman 
31 May 2017
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Directors’ Report 
 
The directors of Medtech Global Limited submit their 
Directors’ Report accompanied by the financial report of 
Medtech Global Limited and its controlled entities for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2017. In order to comply 
with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the 
directors report the following: 

Directors 

The names of directors in office at any time during and 
until the date of this report are: 

Mr Vino Ramayah 

Executive Chairman, age 64 

Mr Ramayah has been Executive Chairman and the 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Medtech Global 
group of companies since he was appointed on 25th 
September 2006. He is also on the board of several 
technology companies in the Asia Pacific region. He has 
significant experience in mergers and acquisitions. He 
has been involved in the development and growth of 
ICT and biotech companies in Australia, New Zealand 
and the Pacific Region. Mr Ramayah has provided 
strategic advice in a professional capacity to various 
multinationals in several countries in the Asia Pacific. He 
holds a Bachelor of Laws (Hons) and a Master of Law 
degree from the University of London. 

Other Current Directorships 

None 

Former Directorships in the last 3 years 

None 

Mr Ross Tanner 

Executive Director, age 67 

Mr Tanner was appointed to the board on 15th August 
2011. He was appointed as an Executive Director from 1st 
March 2015. Mr Tanner has been a professional 
company director and a consultant specialising in public 
sector management and governance for the past 
thirteen years. This follows an extensive career in Public 
Service in New Zealand culminating in his appointment 
as Deputy State Services Commissioner – in effect, the 
Deputy Head of the Public Service. Mr Tanner is an 
experienced organisational strategist and provides 
independent advice to boards on improvements to 
governance arrangements and mentoring advice to 
chief executives. He holds a Master of Arts (1st Class 
Honours) degree from the University of Canterbury and a 
Master of Public Administration degree from Harvard 
University. 

Other Current Directorships 

None 

Former Directorships in the last 3 years 

None 

 

Mr Russell Clarke 

Non-Executive Director, age 65 

Mr Clarke comes from a successful banking and 
merchant finance background although he has not 
obtained any formal qualification. He was appointed as 
the Executive Director on 25th September 2006. Effective 
1 October 2014 he has been acting as a Non-Executive 
Director.  

Other Current Directorships 

None 

Former Directorships in the last 3 years 

None 

Mr Darryl Stuart 

Non-Executive Director, age 59 

Mr Stuart was appointed on 1st September 2009. He has 
held CEO and senior management positions in State 
Government, financial services ICT, health informatics, 
biotechnology, e-commerce and international 
consulting businesses. He was formerly the CEO and 
director of Medtamic Pty Ltd, a company specialising in 
clinical audit solutions for the healthcare industry. He 
holds a Bachelor of Science (Hons) degree from the 
University of New South Wales. 

Other Current Directorships 

None 

Former Directorships in the last 3 years 

None 

Mr Michael Gaylard 

Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary, age 72 

Mr Gaylard was appointed to the board on 21st April 
2011. Previously, Mr Gaylard worked for McGregor and 
Court, Chartered Accountants and as managing partner 
in Rogers and Gaylard. He has been extensively involved 
in intellectual property, computer contracts joint 
ventures and corporate law. He now serves as a 
consultant to Rogers and Gaylard. He holds a Bachelor 
of Laws and Commerce degrees from the University of 
Melbourne. He is a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme 
Court of Victoria, and former member of the Australian 
Society of Certified Practicing Accountants. 

Other Current Directorships 

None 

Former Directorships in the last 3 years 

None 

 

 



 12 

Committee Membership 

As at the date of this report, the Group had an Audit 
Committee and a Remuneration Committee. 

Members acting on the committees of the board during 
the year were: 

Audit Committee 

Mr Russell Clarke 
Mr Michael Gaylard 

Remuneration Committee 

Mr Vino Ramayah 
Mr Russell Clarke 
Mr Darryl Stuart 
Mr Michael Gaylard 
Mr Ross Tanner 
 

Due to the limited size and lack of complexity of the 
Group, the remuneration committee functions are 
overseen by the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors of the Group does not have a 
Nominations Committee. The board is of the opinion that 
due to the nature and size of the Group, the functions 
performed by a Nominations Committee can be 
adequately handled by the full board. 

Meetings of Directors 

The number of meetings of directors (including meetings 
of committees of directors) held during the year and the 
number of meetings attended by each director was as 
follows: 

 Directors’ 
Meetings 

Audit 
Committee 

Meetings 
Number of meetings held: 11 2 

Number of meetings 
attended by: 

  

V Ramayah 11 - 

R Clarke 11 2 

 

 

 

 

D Stuart 10 - 

 
R Tanner 11 - 

 
M Gaylard 11 2 

All directors during the course of their directorships were 
eligible to attend all meetings held. The Audit Committee 
meetings were also attended by Ms Bose, non-director.  

Director’s Interests 

As at the date of this report, the relevant interests of the 
directors of this report in the shares of the company are: 

Director Number of Fully Paid Ordinary 
Shares 

V. Ramayah 71,081,562 

R. Clarke 109,000 

D. Stuart 750,000 

M. Gaylard 120,000 

Total 72,060,562 

Mr V Ramayah has an interest of 71,081,262 shares in the 
company held by Cereus Holdings Limited. 

Mr R Clarke has an interest of 10,000 shares in the 
company held directly, 89,000 shares held by R G Clarke 
& Associates Ltd, and 10,000 shares held by The Russell 
Clarke Family Trust. 

Mr D Stuart has an interest of 750,000 shares held directly. 

Mr M Gaylard has an interest of 120,000 shares held 
directly. 

Transactions with directors and their related parties 

Please refer note 26 Related Party Disclosures for 
transactions with directors and their related parties. 

Principal Activities 

The principal activities of the Group during the financial 
year were the business and sale by way of sub-licence of 
healthcare technologies worldwide. 

Review of Operations  

A review of the operations of the Group can be found 
on page 9 of this report.  

This review of operations has not been audited.  

Likely Developments 

Likely developments in the operations of the Group and 
the expected results of those operations in future 
financial years have not been included in this report as 
the inclusion of such information is likely to result in 
unreasonable prejudice to the Group. 

Dividends 

No dividends have been paid or declared since the start 
of the financial year. 

Significant Changes in State of Affairs 

Company received letter from ASX confirming delisting 
of shares from ASX as from the close of trading on 
Monday, 6 February 2017. There were no other significant 
changes in the state of affairs of the Group other than 
that already referred to in the financial statements. 
(2016: Medtech Holdings USA Inc a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Medtech Global Limited has on the 31st 
October 2015 purchased all the non-controlling interests 
in Consova Corporation and in so doing has 100% 
ownership of US based ConSova Corporation.) 

Profit/ Loss per Share  

The loss per share was 2.77 cents (2016: Loss per share 
2.32 cents). The weighted average number of shares on 
issue during the financial year used in the calculation of 
earnings / loss per share was 100,248,061 (2016: 
100,248,061). 

Contingent Liability 

Medtech Holdings USA Inc (MHI) a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Medtech Global Limited (MDG) has on the 
31st October 2015 purchased all the non-controlling 
interests and in doing so has 100% ownership of ConSova 
Corporation. The purchase price under the agreement is 
a total of US$1,300,000. Of this US$ 80,000 is a contingent 
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amount payable in the event, and only in the event, 
ConSova Corporation or all or substantially all of its assets 
is or are sold within 18 months of the acquisition date for 
aggregate consideration valued at US$ 2,700,000 or 
greater. The Group has no intention to sell ConSova 
Corporation or all or substantially all of its assets and 
consequently AU$ 104,657 equivalent to US$ 80,000 has 
been shown as contingent liability as at 31 March, 2017. 
(2016: AU$ 104,316 equivalent to US$ 80,000) 

Subsequent Events 

There were no significant events subsequent to reporting 
date. (Previous year: Nil)  
 
Rounding of amounts 

In accordance with ASIC Corporations (Rounding in 
Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191, the 
amounts in the directors’ report and in the financial 
report have been rounded to the nearest one thousand 
dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar (where 
indicated). 

Share Options 

No options were granted during or since the end of the 
financial year up to the date of this report to any of the 
directors or other officers of the Group. No director or 
other officer of the Group holds any options over 
unissued shares of the company. 

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers 

The Group has agreed to indemnify all the directors and 
executive officers for any breach of environmental or 
discrimination laws by the Group for which they may be 
held personally liable. The agreement provides for the 
Group to pay an amount not exceeding $2,000,000 
provided that: 

(a) The liability does not arise out of conduct 
involving a lack of good faith. 

(b) The liability is for costs and expenses incurred by 
the director or officer in defending proceedings 
in which judgement is given in their favour or in 
which they are acquitted. 

During or since the financial year, the Group has paid 
premiums in respect of a contract insuring all the 

directors against legal costs incurred in defending 
proceedings for conduct other than: 

(a) A wilful breach of duty. 

(b) A contravention of sections 182 or 183 of the 
Corporations Act 2001, as permitted by section 
199B of the Corporations Act 2001. 

The total amount of directors insurance contract 
premiums paid was $ 24,565. 

Indemnification of auditors 

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has 
agreed to indemnify its auditors, Pitcher Partners, as part 
of the terms of its audit engagement agreement against 
claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an 
unspecified amount). No payment has been made to 
indemnify Pitcher Partners during or since the financial 
year. 

Environmental Regulation 

The Group’s operations are not subject to any significant 
environmental regulation under a law of the 
Commonwealth or of a State or Territory. 

Auditor's independence declaration 

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration under 
section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit for the financial year is provided with this 
report. 

 

 

 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 
 

 

 

Vino Ramayah 
Executive Chairman 
31 May 2017
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MEDTECH GLOBAL LIMITED 
ABN 70 009 203 203 

 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

TO THE DIRECTORS OF MEDTECH GLOBAL LIMITED 

 

In relation to the independent audit for the year ended 31 March 2017, to the best of my knowledge and 
belief there have been: 

(i)    No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001; and 

(ii)  No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct. 

 

 

 

R M SHANLEY   

Partner 

PITCHER PARTNERS 

Sydney 

 

Date: 31 May 2017 
 



 

An independent New South Wales Partnership. ABN 35 415 759 892 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

15 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
MEDTECH GLOBAL LIMITED 

ABN 70 009 203 203 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF MEDTECH GLOBAL LIMITED 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Medtech Global Limited (the company) and its subsidiaries (the 
"group"), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017, the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, and the directors' declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the group, is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 

(a)  giving a true and fair view of the group’s financial position as at 31 March 2017 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and 

(b)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 
given to the directors of the group, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of 
this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
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Other Information     

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the group’s annual financial report for the year ended 31 March 2017, but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the group are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report 
that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
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 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the group’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. We communicate with the directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

 

 

 

R M SHANLEY  PITCHER PARTNERS 

Partner  Sydney 

 

Date: 2 June 2017 
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Declaration by Directors 

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Medtech Global Limited, we state that: 

In the opinion of the directors: 

1. The financial statements and notes of Medtech Global Limited for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 are in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2017 and of its performance 
for the year ended on that date; and 

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

2. The financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 
note 1; and 

3. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable. 

 

On behalf of the board 

 

 

 

 

Vino Ramayah         Russell Clarke 

Executive Chairman     Director 

31 May  2017      31 May 2017 
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 March 2017 

  
CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  

  
2017 2016 

		 NOTE $ $ 

Revenue 4 21,636,306 19,836,892 
Income from Government Grant  482,775 762,250 
Cost of sales 

 
(1,361,114) (1,087,438) 

Finance costs 5a (74,889) (87,250) 
Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment of Intangibles 5b (2,962,121) (3,450,650) 
Employee benefits expenses 5c (10,485,261) (8,923,605) 
Consulting fees 

 
(3,640,205) (3,632,176) 

Management fee to related party 27 (1,788,116) (1,501,345) 
Travelling expenses 

 
(790,770) (619,422) 

Occupancy costs 
 

(929,530) (822,249) 
IT support expenses 

 
(509,553) (682,396) 

Telecommunication costs 
 

(716,943) (611,004) 
Legal and statutory costs 

 
(554,376) (658,107) 

(Provision for)/ Recovery of bad debts 
 

5,845 67,929 
Foreign currency gain / (loss) 

 
106,233 60,953 

Other expenses 
 

(1,062,827) (812,298) 
Profit / (Loss) before income tax expense 

 
(2,644,546) (2,159,916) 

Income tax (expense) / credit 6 (135,394) (165,209) 
Net Profit / (Loss) for the year 

 

(2,779,940) (2,325,125) 

Other comprehensive income 		
 

 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to Profit and Loss 

 

  

Foreign currency translation gain / (loss)   (126,899) (3,519) 
Total comprehensive income / (loss) net of tax   (2,906,839) (2,328,644) 

Net profit / (loss) attributable to owners of the parent 

 

(2,776,928) (2,145,249) 

Non-controlling interest   (3,012) (179,876) 
    (2,779,940) (2,325,125) 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) attributable to owners of 
the parent 

 

(2,903,828) (2,148,768) 

Non-controlling interest   (3,012) (179,876) 
    (2,906,840) (2,328,644) 

  
 

    

 
The above Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 March 2017 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

 

NOTE $ $ 

CURRENT ASSETS 
   Cash and cash equivalents 9  940,277  1,544,698 

Trade and other receivables 10  3,021,618  2,451,142 

Inventories 11  32,934  52,043 

Income tax receivable   462,760  561,611 

Other current assets 15  237,102  519,656 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 
 

 4,694,691  5,129,150 

 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 

  

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Property, plant & equipment 13  585,542  784,214 

Deferred tax asset (net) 6  448,558  270,212 
Intangible assets 14 - 2,562,271 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 

 1,034,100  3,616,697 

    

TOTAL ASSETS 
 

5,728,791 8,745,847 

 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 

  

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 16  3,228,862  3,012,550 

Deferred revenue 16d  987,074  899,881 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 17  972,462  900,793 

Provisions 18  720,439  584,946 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 

5,908,837 5,398,170 

    
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 
  

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 17  746,008  1,348,500 

Other non-current liabilities 

 

 18,512  36,904 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 

 764,520  1,385,404 
    

TOTAL LIABILITIES 
 

 6,673,357 6,783,574 

    

NET ASSETS 
 

 (944,566) 1,962,273 

 

EQUITY 
 

  

EQUITY    

Contributed equity 19  48,929,120  48,929,120 
Accumulated losses 

 

 (48,145,061) (45,368,133) 

Acquisition of Non-Controlling Interest 
 

  (1,498,607) (1,498,607) 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

 

 (130,955) (4,056) 

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent 
 

 (845,503) 2,058,324 
Non-controlling interest 20  (99,063) (96,051) 

TOTAL EQUITY 
 

 (944,566) 1,962,273 
 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 March 2017 

 

 ORDINARY 
SHARE 

CAPITAL 

ACCUMULATED 
LOSSES 

ACQUISITION 
OF NCI 

RESERVE[1] 

FCTR[2] OWNERS OF 
THE PARENT 

NCI[3] TOTAL 
EQUITY 

Balance at 31 March 
2015 

               
48,929,120  

             
(43,222,884) 

- 
                         

(537) 
                 

5,705,699  
                    

293,218  
                 

5,998,917  

Net Profit / (Loss) for 
the year  

(2,145,249)   (2,145,249) (179,876) (2,325,125) 

Other comprehensive 
income (FCTR) 

- - - (3,519) (3,519) - (3,519) 

Total comprehensive 
income 

- (2,145,249) - (3,519) (2,148,768) (179,876) (2,328,644) 

Acquisition of Non- 
Controlling Interest 

- - (1,498,607) - (1,498,607) (209,393) (1,708,000) 

Balance at 31 March 
2016   48,929,120  

             
(45,368,133) 

               
(1,498,607) 

                      
(4,056) 

                 
2,058,324  

                    
(96,051) 

                 
1,962,273  

Net Profit / (Loss) for 
the year -  (2,776,928) - -  (2,776,928)  (3,012)  (2,779,940) 

        
Other comprehensive 
income (FCTR) - - -  (126,899)  (126,899) -  (126,899) 

Balance at 31 March 
2017  48,929,120   (48,145,061)  (1,498,607)  (130,955)  (845,503)  (99,063)  (944,566) 

 

[1]  Acquisition of Non-Controlling Interest Reserve represents the difference between the amount by which non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid, where there is no change in control. 
(Refer note 23 “Acquisition of Non- Controlling Interest in ConSova Corporation” for details.) 

[2]  Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 
[3]  Non-controlling interest represents 15% (2016: 15%) non-controlling Interest in Medtech Global USA, LLC as at 31 March 

2017. All other entities within the group are fully owned by the parent Medtech Global Limited. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 31 March 2017 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

 

NOTE $ $ 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 

 

 Receipts from customers 

 

23,978,507 21,743,194 

Receipt of government grant  150,000 300,000 

Payments to suppliers and employees 

 

(23,987,137) (21,483,811) 

Interest received 

 

3,139 13,099 

Finance costs 

 

(66,147) (63,523) 

Income tax paid (net of refund and R&D tax credit) 

 

89,769 367,434 

Net operating cash flows 25(a) 168,131 876,393 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

  

Purchase of property, plant & equipment 

 

(181,798) (172,673) 

Sale/ disposal of property, plant & equipment  3,323 - 

Purchase of intangible assets 

 

- (71,446) 

Net investing cash flows 

 

(178,475) (244,119) 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

  

Proceeds from borrowings 

 

 166,477  1,394,465 

Repayments of borrowings 

 

 (409,577) (872,942) 

Payments for acquisition of business   (350,977) (149,333) 

Payments for acquisition of non-controlling interest 

 

 -    (706,776) 

Net financing cash flows 

 

 (594,077) (334,586) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  

 (604,421) 297,688 

Cash at the beginning of the financial year 

 

 1,544,698  1,247,010 

Cash  and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 9  940,277  1,544,698 

 

 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2017 
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Corporate Information 

The consolidated financial report of Medtech Global 
Limited for the year ended 31 March 2017 was 
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of 
the directors on 31 May 2017. 

This general purpose financial report has been prepared 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Australian Accounting Interpretations), other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board, and the Corporations Act 
2001. 

Medtech Global Limited is a for profit company 
incorporated in Australia whose shares were publicly 
traded on the Australian Stock Exchange. The shares of 
the Company are delisted from ASX with and the 
Company ceased to be quoted by ASX as from the 
close of trading on Monday, 6 February 2017. 

This report is to be read in conjunction with any public 
announcements made by Medtech Global Limited 
during the reporting period in accordance with the 
continuous disclosure requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

The following is a summary of material accounting 
policies adopted by the consolidated entity in the 
preparation and presentation of the financial report. The 
accounting policies have been consistently applied 
unless otherwise stated. 

Basis of Preparation 

This financial report includes results of the consolidated 
entity consisting of Medtech Global Limited and its 
controlled entities (the “Group”). The financial report is 
presented in Australian dollars and all amounts are 
rounded to the nearest dollar unless otherwise stated. 

Compliance with IFRS 

The financial report complies with for-profit Australian 
Accounting Standards (AAS) and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 
Financial Reporting Standards Board. 

Historical cost basis 

Except for cash flow information, the financial 
statements have been prepared on an accrual basis 
and are based on historical costs, modified, where 
applicable, by the measurement at fair value of 
selected items. 

Going Concern 

Management recognise the trading loss for the period of 
$ 2,779,940. It is noted this was after depreciation, 
amortisation and impairment of intangibles recognised 
of $ 2,962,121. Management also recognise a current net 

asset deficiency of $ 1,214,146 at 31 March 2017. This 
deficit is due to deferred revenue of $ 987,074 which 
does not result in a cash outflow. The board of directors 
believe that it is appropriate to continue to adopt the 
going concern assumption for the completion of these 
financial statements based on the recognition of positive 
operating cash flows for the year ending 31 March 2017, 
five-year cash flow forecasts and the availability of an 
overdraft and loan facility with the bank (refer note 17(e) 
for the details of unused facilities.  

Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with AAS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the financial statements 
are disclosed in note 2. 

Accounting Policies 

a) Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements are those of the 
consolidated entity (“the Group”), comprising the 
financial statements of the parent entity and of all 
entities Medtech Global Limited (“The Company”) 
controls. Details of the controlled entities are contained 
in note 12. The Company controls an entity when it has 
power over the investee and the Group is exposed to or 
has right to variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power to direct the activities of the entity. 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, 
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income from the date the Company 
gains control until the date when the Company ceases 
to control the subsidiary. Profit or loss and each 
component of other comprehensive income are 
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 
non-controlling interest. Total comprehensive income of 
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in 
the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.  

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared 
for the same reporting period as the parent entity, using 
consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made to 
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies which 
may exist. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all 
inter-company balances and transactions, income and 
expenses including any unrealised profits or losses, have 
been eliminated on consolidation. 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the 
acquisition method of accounting. The acquisition 
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method of accounting involves allocating the cost of the 
business combination to the fair value of the assets 
acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed at the date of acquisition (see note (h). 

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries 
that do not result in the Group losing control over the 
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The 
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes 
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference 
between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interest is adjusted and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received are attributable to the 
owners of the parent and recognised directly in equity. 

c) Foreign currency transactions and balances 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of each of the Group entities is 
the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which that entity operates. The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Australian dollars, as this is 
the parent entity's functional and presentation currency. 

(ii) Transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies of entities within the 
consolidated entity are translated into functional 
currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of 
the transaction. 

Foreign currency monetary items that are outstanding at 
the reporting date (other than monetary items arising 
under foreign currency contracts where the exchange 
rate for that monetary item is fixed in the contract) are 
translated using the spot rate at the end of the financial 
year. 

Resulting exchange differences arising on settlement or 
restatement are recognised as revenue and expenses 
for the financial year. 

(iii) Translation of Group Companies functional 
currency to presentation currency 

The results of the foreign subsidiaries are translated into 
Australian Dollars as at the date of each transaction. 
Assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates 
prevailing at balance date. 

Exchange variations resulting from the translation are 
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in 
Equity. 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the net investment in New Zealand, USA 
and India subsidiaries are taken to the foreign currency 
translation reserve in Equity. If any of the foreign 
subsidiaries were sold, the proportionate share of the 
exchange difference would be transferred out of Equity 
and recognised in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. 

d) Revenue 

Revenue is recognised and measured at fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable to the extent it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. 

Revenue from the provision of services to a customer is 
recognised upon delivery of the service. Certain clients 
may be invoiced in advance of provision of services and 
this amount is recognised as a liability until the service is 
performed. Revenue from the sale of rights to use the 
products (license) is one off and non-recurring in nature 
and recognised when the license is delivered. 

ConSova Corporation’s revenue from over-payment 
claims services is recognised on an achievement of 
milestone basis when the services have been provided 
and the over-payments have been identified for the 
customer.  

Revenue from software contracts is recognised when 
milestones and / or specific deliverables are met. The 
milestones and / or specific deliverables generally mirror 
the software development life cycle. 

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using 
the effective interest method. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and 
services tax (GST). 

e) Government grants 

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair 
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the 
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all 
attached conditions. 

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income over the period necessary to 
match them on a systematic basis to the costs that they 
are intended to compensate. 

Government grants relating to purchase of property, 
plant and equipment, except for R & D Grants, are 
included in non-current liabilities as deferred income and 
are released to the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the 
expected useful life of the asset. 

R & D Grants are recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income when expected 
to be received in cash. 

f) Income tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities based 
on the current period’s taxable income. The tax rates 
and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date. 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary 
differences at the reporting date between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences except: 

• when the deferred income tax liability arises from the 
initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and that, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss. 
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• when the taxable temporary difference is associated 
with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interest 
in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences and 
the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses can be utilised, except: 

• when the deferred income tax asset relating to the 
deductible temporary difference arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

• when the deductible temporary difference is 
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
or interests in joint ventures, in which case a deferred 
tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary difference will reverse in 
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary difference 
can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is 
reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
income tax asset to be utilised. 

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets is reviewed at 
each reporting date and are recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profit 
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities, when recognised, will 
be measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the year when the asset is realised or the liability 
settled, based on the tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset 
only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred 
tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority. 

g) Hire purchase and leased assets 

Leases are classified at their inception as either 
operating or finance leases based on the economic 
substance of the agreement and require an assessment 
of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and 
the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. 

Leases of property, plant and equipment where 
substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the 
ownership of the asset but not the legal ownership that 
are transferred to entities in the consolidated entity are 
classified as finance leases. 

Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset 
and a liability equal at the lower of the amounts equal to 
the fair value of the leased property or the present value 
of the minimum lease payments, including any 
guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are 

allocated between the reduction of the lease liability 
and the lease interest expense for the period. 

Lease assets are depreciated on a diminishing-value 
basis over their estimated useful lives. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. Operating lease incentives are recognised as 
a liability when received and subsequently reduced by 
allocating lease payments between rental expense and 
reduction of the liability. 

h) Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the 
acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and 
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group 
elects whether to initially measure the non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree at fair value or at the 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. Acquisition related costs are expensed as 
incurred and included in administrative expenses. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the 
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the 
contractual terms, economic circumstances and 
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This 
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host 
contracts by the acquiree. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the 
acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as 
liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope 
of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, is measured at fair value with changes in 
fair value recognised in profit or loss. If the contingent 
consideration is not within the scope of AASB 139, it is 
measured in accordance with the appropriate AASB. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for 
within equity. 

i) Impairment of intangible assets other than 
goodwill 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial 
assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the impairment may have reversed. 

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are 
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. 
Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
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j) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial 
position comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call 
with banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
Bank overdrafts are shown within short-term borrowings in 
current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 

k) Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Such assets are carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains 
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income when the trade 
and other receivables are de-recognised or impaired. 
These are included in current assets, except for those 
with maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting 
date, which are classified as non-current assets. 

Trade receivables which generally have 30-60 day terms 
are carried at original invoice amount, less an allowance 
for impairment. 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis at an operating unit level. Individual debts 
that are known to be uncollectible are written off when 
identified. An impairment allowance is recognised when 
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 
able to collect the receivable. 

Financial difficulties of the debtor and / or default 
payments are considered objective evidence of 
impairment. 

l) Inventories 

Inventories include database licences and are stated at 
the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Cost comprises direct materials and related 
transportation costs in bringing each product to its 
present location and condition. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the 
sale. 

m) Investments in controlled entities 

Shares in controlled entities are measured at cost less 
any impairment losses. 

n) Property, plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, where applicable. 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed 
for impairment annually for events or changes in 
circumstances that indicate that the carrying value may 
not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and 
where the carrying value exceeds the estimated 
recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised 
in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 

Depreciation 

The depreciable amount of computer hardware, office 
equipment and furniture and fixtures are depreciated on 
a diminishing value basis over their estimated useful lives 
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for 
use. 

Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a 
diminishing value basis over the shorter of either the 
unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful 
lives of the improvements. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of 
depreciable assets are: 

Computer hardware   10%-60% 
Office Equipment    10%-60% 
Furniture and Fixtures   10%-60% 
Leased plant and equipment   40%-50% 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation 
methods are reviewed and adjusted (if appropriate), at 
each financial year end. 

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount. 
Gains or losses are recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income. 

All repairs and maintenance are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income as incurred. 

De-recognition 

An item of property, plant and equipment is de-
recognised upon sale, disposal or when no further future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 

o) Goodwill and intangibles 

Goodwill 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of 
the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 
amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the 
net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If 
the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of 
the aggregate consideration transferred, the gain is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at the 
amount recognised at acquisition date less any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired 
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, 
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to 
benefit from the synergies of the combination, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the 
acquiree are assigned to those units or groups of units. 

Goodwill is not amortised but is tested annually for 
impairment or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. 
Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses. Impairment is determined by assessing the 
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to 
which the goodwill relates. 
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When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the 
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. When 
goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and an 
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill 
associated with the operation disposed of is included in 
the carrying amount of the operation when determining 
the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. 

Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not 
subsequently reversed. 

Intangibles 

Intangible assets acquired separately or in a business 
combination are initially measured at cost. The cost of 
an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is 
its fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, 
excluding capitalised development costs, are not 
capitalised and expenditure is recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be 
either finite or indefinite. Changes in the expected useful 
life or the expected pattern of consumption of future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset are 
accounted for prospectively by changing the 
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is 
accounted for as a change in accounting estimate. 

The intangible assets amortisation methods, useful lives, 
and residual values are reviewed and adjusted (if 
appropriate) at each financial year end. 

Licences 

Licences are initially brought to account at cost of 
acquisition and are amortised over the period in which 
their benefits are expected to be realised. The balances 
are reviewed annually and any balance representing 
future benefits for which realisation is no longer probable, 
are written off. Licences are amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the period of its useful life of 3 years. 
Amortisation commences from the time of the first 
binding contract to sell the product is signed. 

Research and development 

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as 
incurred. Costs incurred on development projects 
(relating to the design and testing of new or improved 
products) are recognised as intangible assets when it is 
probable that the project will, after considering its 
commercial and technical feasibility, be completed and 
generate future economic benefits and its costs can be 
measured reliably. The expenditure capitalised 
comprises all directly attributable costs, including costs of 
materials, services, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of overheads. Other development 
expenditures that do not meet these criteria are 
recognised as an expense when incurred. 

Capitalised development costs recorded as intangible 
assets are amortised from the point at which the asset is 
ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life of 3 
years. 

Capitalised development costs are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation less impairments. The carrying 
value of an intangible asset arising from development 

expenditure is tested for impairment annually when the 
asset is not yet available for use or more frequently when 
an indication of impairment arises during the reporting 
period. Impairment is determined when the expected 
discounted future cash flows (recoverable amount) is less 
than its carrying value. Impairment is recognised as soon 
as it is determined. 

Customer relationships 

Customer relationships have finite useful lives and are 
amortised over a 3 year period and this expense is taken 
to the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 

ConSova Corporation’s customer relationships have 
finite useful lives and are amortised over a 3 year period 
and this expense is taken to the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. If the asset is 
impaired, a reassessment of the useful life will occur 

Software and development costs 

Software predominantly represents cost of development 
of Medtech Evolution and is amortised over 3 years from 
the time the software becomes commercially available. 

Capitalised development costs are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation less impairments. The carrying 
value of an intangible asset arising from development 
expenditure is tested for impairment annually when the 
asset is not yet available for use or more frequently when 
an indication of impairment arises during the reporting 
period. Impairment is determined when the expected 
discounted future cash flows (recoverable amount) is less 
than its carrying value. Impairment is recognised as soon 
as it is determined. 

p) Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost 
and due to their short term nature they are not 
discounted. They represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group 
becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of 
the purchase of these goods and services. The amounts 
are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition. 

q) Interest bearing loans and borrowings 

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair 
value, less directly attributable transaction costs incurred. 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method. 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings are removed from 
the statement of financial position when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or 
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of 
a financial liability that has been extinguished or 
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, 
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in other income or other 
expenses. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the 
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
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the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
date. Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense 
when incurred. The Group does not currently hold 
qualifying assets but if it did, the borrowing costs directly 
associated with this asset would be capitalised (including 
any other associated costs directly attributable to the 
borrowing). 

r) Deferred Revenue 

Annual maintenance fees are charged against 
customers, except if customers pay in advance of more 
than one year. Maintenance fees are deferred and 
recognised as income in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income on a straight line basis 
over the contractual period. 

s) Provisions 

General 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. When the Group expects 
some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, 
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset, but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to 
a provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss 
net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value 
of money is material, provisions are discounted using a 
current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the 
risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as a finance cost. 

Wages, salaries, and sick leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits, and accumulating sick leave which are 
expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting 
date are recognised in respect of employees' services 
up to the reporting date. They are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. Expenses for non-accumulating sick leave are 
recognised when the leave is taken and are measured 
at the rates paid or payable. 

Long service leave and annual leave 

The Group recognises a liability for long service leave 
and annual leave measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date. Consideration is given to expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee departures, 
and periods of service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the reporting date on 
corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currencies 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future 
cash outflows. 

t) Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental 
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly 

attributable to the issue of new shares or options for the 
acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of 
the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration. 

If the entity reacquires its own equity instruments, for 
example, as the result of a share buy-back, those 
instruments are deducted from equity and the 
associated shares are cancelled. No gain or loss is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income and the consideration paid 
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net 
of income taxes) is recognised directly in equity. 

u) Dividends 

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend 
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer 
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of 
the financial year but not distributed at balance date. 

w) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of 
the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it 
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount 
of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from or payable to the taxation authority is presented as 
an operating cash flow. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST 
components of cash flow arising from investing or 
financing activities, which are recoverable from, or 
payable to the taxation authority, are presented as 
operating cash flow. Commitment and contingencies 
are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from 
or payable to the taxation authority. 

x) Comparative figures 

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative 
figures are adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year. 

y) New accounting standards and interpretations 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 
the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements 
are consistent with those followed in the preparation of 
the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended 31 March 2016, except for the adoption 
of new standards and interpretation noted below:   
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Reference Title Summary Application 
date of 
standard 

Application 
date for 
Group 

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Sale or 
Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor 
and its Associate or 
Joint Venture 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Annual 
Improvements to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards 2012–2014 
Cycle 

The subjects of the principal amendments to the 
Standards are set out below: 
 
AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:  
► Servicing contracts  - clarifies how an entity should 

apply the guidance in paragraph 42C of AASB 7 to 
a servicing contract to decide whether a servicing 
contract is ‘continuing involvement’ for the 
purposes of applying the disclosure requirements in 
paragraphs 42E–42H of AASB 7. 

► Applicability of the amendments to AASB 7 to 
condensed interim financial statements - clarify 
that the additional disclosure required by the 
amendments to AASB 7 Disclosure–Offsetting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities is not 
specifically required for all interim periods. 
However, the additional disclosure is required to be 
given in condensed interim financial statements 
that are prepared in accordance with AASB 134 
Interim Financial Reporting when its inclusion would 
be required by the requirements of AASB 134. 

 
AASB 119 Employee Benefits: 
► Discount rate: regional market issue - clarifies that 

the high quality corporate bonds used to estimate 
the discount rate for post-employment benefit 
obligations should be denominated in the same 
currency as the liability. Further it clarifies that the 
depth of the market for high quality corporate 
bonds should be assessed at the currency level. 

 
AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting:  
► Disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim 

financial report’ -amends AASB 134 to clarify the 
meaning of disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in 
the interim financial report’ and to require the 
inclusion of a cross-reference from the interim 
financial statements to the location of this 
information. 

1 January 
2016 

1 April 2016 

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosure 
Initiative: Amendments 
to AASB 101 

The Standard makes amendments to AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements arising from the 
IASB’s Disclosure Initiative project. The amendments are 
designed to further encourage companies to apply 
professional judgment in determining what information 
to disclose in the financial statements.  For example, 
the amendments make clear that materiality applies to 
the whole of financial statements and that the inclusion 
of immaterial information can inhibit the usefulness of 
financial disclosures.  The amendments also clarify that 
companies should use professional judgment in 
determining where and in what order information is 
presented in the financial disclosures. 

1 January 
2016 

1 April 2016 

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
the Withdrawal of 
AASB 1031 Materiality 

The Standard completes the AASB’s project to remove 
Australian guidance on materiality from Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

1 July 2015 1 April 2016 

Adoption of these standards did not have any material effect on the financial position or performance of the Group. 
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Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the 31 March 2017 
reporting period. The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is that they have no 
material impact for financial reporting purposes apart from AASB 15 where the impact is still being assessed. These are 
detailed in the table below: 

Reference Title Summary Application 
date of 

standard 

Application 
date for 

Group 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments AASB 9 (December 2014) is a new Principal standard 
which replaces AASB 139. This new Principal version 
supersedes AASB 9 issued in December 2009 (as 
amended) and AASB 9 (issued in December 2010) and 
includes a model for classification and measurement, a 
single, forward-looking ‘expected loss’ impairment model 
and a substantially-reformed approach to hedge 
accounting. 
AASB 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2018. However, the Standard is available 
for early application. The own credit changes can be 
early applied in isolation without otherwise changing the 
accounting for financial instruments. 
 
The final version of AASB 9 introduces a new expected-loss 
impairment model that will require more timely 
recognition of expected credit losses. Specifically, the 
new Standard requires entities to account for expected 
credit losses from when financial instruments are first 
recognised. The Standard also requires to recognise full 
lifetime expected losses on a more timely basis. 
 
Amendments to AASB 9 (December 2009 & 2010 editions) 
(AASB 2013-9) issued in December 2013 included the new 
hedge accounting requirements, including changes to 
hedge effectiveness testing, treatment of hedging costs, 
risk components that can be hedged and disclosures. 
 
AASB 9 includes requirements for a simpler approach for 
classification and measurement of financial assets 
compared with the requirements of AASB 139. 
 
The main changes are described below. 
a. Financial assets that are debt instruments will be 

classified based on (1) the objective of the entity's 
business model for managing the financial assets; (2) 
the characteristics of the contractual cash flows. 

b. Allows an irrevocable election on initial recognition to 
present gains and losses on investments in equity 
instruments that are not held for trading in other 
comprehensive income. Dividends in respect of these 
investments that are a return on investment can be 
recognised in profit or loss and there is no impairment 
or recycling on disposal of the instrument. 

c. Financial assets can be designated and measured at 
fair value through profit or loss at initial recognition if 
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a 
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
arise from measuring assets or liabilities, or recognising 
the gains and losses on them, on different bases. 

d. Where the fair value option is used for financial 
liabilities the change in fair value is to be accounted 
for as follows: 
► The change attributable to changes in credit risk 

are presented in other comprehensive income 
(OCI) 

► The remaining change is presented in profit or 
loss  

 
AASB 9 also removes the volatility in profit or loss that was 
caused by changes in the credit risk of liabilities elected to 
be measured at fair value. This change in accounting 
means that gains caused by the deterioration of an 

1 January 
2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 April 
2018 
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Reference Title Summary Application 
date of 

standard 

Application 
date for 

Group 

entity’s own credit risk on such liabilities are no longer 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Consequential amendments were also made to other 
standards as a result of AASB 9, introduced by AASB 2009-
11 and superseded by AASB 2010-7, AASB 2010-10 and 
AASB 2014-1 – Part E. 
 
AASB 2014-7 incorporates the consequential amendments 
arising from the issuance of AASB 9 in Dec 2014. 
 
AASB 2014-8 limits the application of the existing versions 
of AASB 9 (AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 
(December 2010)) from 1 February 2015 and applies to 
annual reporting periods beginning on after 1 January 
2015. 
 

AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers 

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers, which replaces IAS 11 
Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related 
Interpretations (IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, 
IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, 
IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers and SIC-31 
Revenue— Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 
Services).  
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises 
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or 
services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services. An entity 
recognises revenue in accordance with that core 
principle by applying the following steps: 
 
a. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer 
b. Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the 

contract 
c. Step 3: Determine the transaction price 
d. Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the 

performance obligations in the contract 
e. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity 

satisfies a performance obligation 
 

Early application of this standard is permitted. 
 
AASB 2014-5 incorporates the consequential amendments 
to a number Australian Accounting Standards (including 
Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15. 

1 January 
2018 

1 April 
2018 

The Group 
is currently 
evaluating 

the 
impact of 

the new 
standard. 

AASB 16 Leases The key features of AASB 16 are as follows: 
 
Lessee accounting 
• Lessees are required to recognise assets and liabilities 

for all assets with a term more than 12 months, unless 
the underlying asset is of low value. 

• A lessee measures right-of-use assets similarly to other 
non-financial assets and lease liabilities similarly to 
other financial liabilities. 

• Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially 
measured on a present value basis. The measurement 
includes non-cancellable lease payments (including 
inflation linked payments), and also includes 
payments to be made in optional periods if the lessee 
is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend 
the lease, or not to exercise an option to terminate 
the lease. 

• AASB 16 contains disclosure requirements for lessees. 
 
Lessor accounting 

1 January 
2019 

1 April 
2019 
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Reference Title Summary Application 
date of 

standard 

Application 
date for 

Group 

 
• AASB 16 substantially carries forward the lessor 

accounting requirements in AASB117. Accordingly, a 
lessor continues to classify its leases as operating 
leases or finance leases, and to account for those two 
types of leases differently. 

• AASB 16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be 
provided by lessors that will improve information 
disclosed about lessor’s risk exposure, particularly to 
residual value risk. 

 
AASB 16 supersedes: 
(a) AASB 117 leases 
(b) Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 

contains a Lease 
(c) SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives 
(d) SIC-27 Evaluation the Substance of Transactions 

Involving the Legal Form of a Lease 
 
The new standard will be effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is 
permitted, provided the new revenue standard, AASB 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers, has been 
applied, or is applied at the same date as AASB 16. 
 

The Group has not elected to early adopt any new or amended Standards or Interpretations that are issued but not yet 
effective, as described above.  
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NOTE 2: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

Estimates and judgements are based on past 
performance and management’s expectation for the 
future. 

The Group makes certain estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future, which, by definition, will seldom 
represent actual results. The estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant inherent risk in respect of 
estimates based on future events which could have a 
material impact on the assets and liabilities in the next 
financial year are discussed below: 

(a) Estimated impairment of goodwill / intangibles 

Goodwill and intangible assets are allocated to cash-
generating units (CGU’s) according to applicable 
business operations. The recoverable amount of a CGU is 
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations 
are based on projected cash flows approved by 
management covering a period not exceeding five 
years. Management’s determination of cash flow 
projections and gross margins are based on past 
performance and its expectation for the future. Refer to 
note 14 for further details of the assumptions used. 

(b) Development costs of Evolution 2.0 

The majority of development costs included as intangible 
assets in the statement of financial position relates to 
Evolution 2.0. Evolution 2.0 has successfully completed 
beta testing phase and has been released to market. 
The Group has started amortising Evolution 2.0 over 3 
years from 1st April 2014. This period of 3 years is 
determined by management based on its past 
experience and market conditions for companies in the 
software industry.  

(c) Development costs of internally developed 
software at ConSova 

Development costs of internally developed software 
were capitalised in the books of ConSova Corporation. 
This software will help to reduce operating costs through 
operational efficiency, reduction of processing time and 
have a potential to increase revenue. The group follows 
the policy of amortising these intangibles over 3 years 
from the date when they were put to use. This period of 3 
years is determined by management based on its past 
experience and market conditions for companies in the 
software industry.  

(d) Estimation of useful lives of intangible assets 

The determination of useful lives of finite life intangible 
assets is based upon the period over which the finite life 
intangible asset is expected to generate cash flows. 
Given the current trend, impairment charge recorded in 
FY14 and dynamics of the market and technology 
environment, the Board believed that the estimate of 

useful life used for the amortisation needed to be 
changed. As a result, the amortisation period for 
customer relationships and software development costs 
changed to 3 years from FY15.  

The main factors that were considered included the 
following: 

1. The speed at which new technologies and new 
products enter the market place means that each 
of our customers has a plethora of possible solutions 
that they can consider. Furthermore the 
introduction of Evolution into our major market in 
New Zealand may be perceived as a threat as the 
transition might prompt our customers to consider 
other competitive alternatives. 

2. There is a trend of restructure amongst our 
traditional customers into larger groups. If this trend 
continues then there will be redefinition of the type 
of customers we will have to cater to and acquire.   
Health Management organizations are now being 
formed in New Zealand / Australia where there is 
group procurement.  

3. Customers are now more discerning and engaged 
and employ a large variety of tools to ensure that 
they are making better choices. Convenience, 
choice, access, and affordability have become 
the new mantra. This trend has the potential to 
fundamentally alter how we interact with our 
customers to deliver care and manage health 
while keeping costs down. 

4. Providers and consumers are increasingly adopting 
mobile health technologies. 

5. Social, mobile, analytics, and cloud technologies 
are creating new business models.     

It was after considering the above factors as well as 
comparable companies amortisation rates within the 
industry that the change was made.  

(e) Revenue recognition on software development 
and installation contracts 

Revenue from software contracts is recognised when 
milestones and / or specific deliverables are met. The 
milestones and / or specific deliverables generally mirror 
the software development life cycle. Management 
exercises judgement in matching the software 
development life cycle as closely as possible to clients’ 
requirements. 

 (f) Income taxes 

Income tax benefits are based on the assumption that 
no adverse change will occur in the income tax 
legislation and the anticipation that the Group will derive 
sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit 
to be realised and comply with the conditions of 
deductibility imposed by the law. 
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NOTE 3: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s financial instruments consist of cash, short-term deposits, trade and other receivables, trade and other 
payables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings, all of which are carried at amortised cost. The main purpose of non-
derivative financial instruments is to raise finance for Group operations. 

The Group does not have any derivative instruments. 

The board reviews and agrees policies for each of these risks as summarised below. 

Interest rate risk 

At balance date, the Group had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to variable interest rate risk that 
are not designated in cash flow hedges: 

 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

 2017 2016 

 $ $ 

Financial Assets   

Interest bearing deposits  338,501  761,155 

Borrowing with variable rate of interest 351,905 308,743 

Net Exposure  (13,404)  452,412 

 

The Group’s policy is to manage its finance costs using a mix of fixed and variable rate debt. The Group’s policy is to 
maintain a minimum of between 40-50% of its borrowings at fixed rates which are carried at amortised cost and it is 
acknowledged that fair value exposure is a by-product of the Group’s attempt to manage its cash flow volatility arising 
from interest rate changes. Given the economic environment, the Group has 80% (2016: 86%) of its borrowings at fixed 
rates. 

The Group constantly analyses its interest rate exposure. Within this analysis, consideration is given to potential renewals of 
existing positions, alternative financing, and the mix of fixed and variable interest rates. 

 EFFECT ON PROFIT BEFORE TAX: 
INCREASE / (DECREASE) 

EFFECT ON EQUITY: INCREASE / 
(DECREASE) 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 
 $ $ $ $ 

Consolidated entity     

+0.50% (50 basis points) (7,170) (3,983) (5,019) (2,788) 

-0.50% (50 basis points) 7,170 3,983 5,019 2,788 
 

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis 

The above table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held 
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate cash and borrowings). The same assumptions 
have been used for the years ended 2017 and 2016. 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the 
Group’s operating activities (when revenue or expense is denominated in a foreign currency) and the Group’s net 
investments in foreign subsidiaries.  

The Group has significant operations in New Zealand and the United States and the Group’s statement of financial position 
can be affected by movements in the NZD/AUD and USD/AUD exchange rates.  

The Group has minimal transactional currency exposures. The transactions represent periodic maintenance and support 
charges. Such exposure arises from sales or purchases by an operating entity in currencies other than the functional 
currency. As at 31 March 2017, the Group’s exposure to foreign currency trade receivables that is not designated in cash 
flow hedges amounted to: 



 36 

NOTE 3: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

Foreign currency risk (cont’d) 

United States Dollars:  AUD 3,640 (2016: AUD 11,667) 
Euros:   AUD Nil  (2016: AUD 6,796)  
GBP:   AUD 60,121 (2016: AUD 37,474) 
At 31 March 2017, the Group had no significant committed foreign currency purchases. 

Currency risk sensitivity analysis 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in US Dollar, Euros, British Pounds and 
Canadian Dollar with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the value of 
monetary assets and liabilities not held in the entities’ functional currency, assuming year end levels of such items are held 
constant), and of the Group’s equity due to changes in value of year end net assets held by non-AUD functional currency 
entities. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities of the Group and its subsequent ability to meet their obligations to repay their 
financial liabilities as and when they fall due. The Group manages liquidity risk by forecasting and monitoring cash flows on 
a continuing basis. The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the 
use of bank overdrafts, bank loans, finance leases and intercompany loans. 
The Group’s policy is that no more than 60% of borrowings should mature in any 12 month period. At 31 March 2017, 57% 
(2016: 40%) of the Group’s debt will mature in less than one year. 
The table below reflects all contractually fixed pay-offs and receivables for settlement, repayments and interest resulting 
from recognised financial assets and liabilities. The respective undiscounted cash flows for the respective upcoming fiscal 
years for other obligations are presented. 
The remaining contractual maturity of the Group's / consolidated entity’s financial liabilities (interest bearing loans and 
borrowings, trade, other payables and provisions) are: 

 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

 2017 2016 

 $ $ 

6 months or less  4,608,285  4,199,263 

+6-12 months  313,477  299,026 

+1-5 years  746,009  1,348,500 

Over 5 years  -    - 

   5,667,771  5,846,789 
 

The maturity analysis of financial assets / liabilities based on management’s expectations is shown in the table below. 
The risk implied from the values shown in the table below reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows. Leasing 
obligations, trade payables and other financial liabilities mainly originate from the financing of assets used in ongoing 
operations such as property, plant, equipment and investments in working capital (e.g. trade receivables).  

 EFFECT ON PROFIT BEFORE TAX: 
INCREASE / (DECREASE) 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: 
INCREASE / (DECREASE) 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 
 $ $ $ $ 

Consolidated Entity     

+2% AUD to USD (2016:+2%) (71) (229) - - 

-2% AUD to USD (2016:-2%) 74 238 - - 

+2% AUD to Euro (2016:+2%) - (133) - - 

-2% AUD to Euro (2016:-2%) - 139 - - 

+2% AUD to GBP (2016:+2%) (1,179) (735) - - 

-2% AUD to GBP (2016:-2%) 1,227 765 - - 

+2% AUD to NZD (2016:+2%) - - - - 

-2% AUD to NZD (2016:-2%) - - - - 
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NOTE 3: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 
 
YEAR ENDED 31 MAR 2017  ≤ 6 6-12 1-5 > 5  

  MONTHS MONTHS YEARS YEARS TOTAL 
 NOTE $ $ $ $ $ 
Consolidated Entity       

Financial Assets       

Cash & cash equivalents  9  940,277   -     -     -     940,277  

Trade & other receivables 10  3,021,618   -     -     -     3,021,618  

   3,961,895   -     -     -     3,961,895  

Consolidated Entity       

Financial Liabilities        

Trade, other payables & 
provisions 

16 & 18  (3,949,301) - - -  (3,949,301) 

Interest bearing loans & 
borrowings 

17  (658,984)  (313,477)  (746,009)  -     (1,718,470) 

   (4,608,285)  (313,477)  (746,009)  -     (5,667,771) 

Net maturity   (646,390)  (313,477)  (746,009)  -     (1,705,876) 

       

YEAR ENDED 31 MAR 2016  ≤ 6 6-12 1-5 > 5  

  MONTHS MONTHS YEARS YEARS TOTAL 
 NOTE $ $ $ $ $ 
Consolidated Entity       

Financial Assets       

Cash & cash equivalents  9 1,544,698 - - - 1,544,698 

Trade & other receivables 10 2,451,142 - - - 2,451,142 

  3,995,840 - - - 3,995,840 

Consolidated Entity       

Financial Liabilities        

Trade, other payables & 
provisions 

16 & 18 (3,597,496) - - - (3,597,496) 

Interest bearing loans & 
borrowings 

17 (601,767) (299,026) (1,348,500) - (2,249,293) 

  (4,199,263) (299,026) (1,348,500) - (5,846,789) 

Net maturity  (203,423) (299,026) (1,348,500) - (1,850,949) 
 

Fair value 

The methods for estimating fair value are outlined in the relevant notes to the financial statements. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which comprises cash and cash equivalents and trade and other 
receivables. The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount net 
of any allowances for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the 
financial statements. Exposure at reporting date is addressed in each applicable note. 

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties and as such, collateral is not requested nor is it the 
Group’s policy to securitise its trade and other receivables. 

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts 
is not significant as a percentage of sales. 

The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables under financial 
instruments entered into by the Group. 

For transactions that are not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group does not 
offer credit terms without specific approval from management. 
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NOTE 4: REVENUE  

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

 

 

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

Sale of services 

 
 21,568,033  19,795,006 

Sale of kiosk   43,874  5,252 
Interest income 

 

 4,672  17,318 

Other income   19,729  19,316 

Total revenue 
 

21,636,306 19,836,892 

 

NOTE 5: EXPENSES 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

 

NOTE $ $ 

(a)  Finance costs: 
 

 
 Finance costs on borrowings 

 

74,889 87,250 

Total finance costs 
 

74,889 87,250 
    

(b)  Depreciation, amortisation, and impairment:    

Depreciation 

 

  

On leasehold improvements 13  13,030  13,129 

On computer hardware 13 307,362 417,286 

On office equipment 13   60,475 51,529 

On furniture and fixtures 13  17,661  12,169 

Total depreciation 
 

398,528 494,113 

Impairment of intangible assets  
 

  
On goodwill 14 10,852 29,660 

Total Impairment 
 

10,852 29,660 

Amortisation of intangible assets    
On capitalised development costs 14  1,229,749  1,555,508 

On customer relations 14  1,316,408  1,364,632 

On trademarks and licenses 14  6,584  6,737 

Total Amortisation  2,552,741 2,926,877 

Total depreciation, amortisation, and impairment 
 

2,962,121 3,450,650 
    

(c)  Employee benefits expenses: 

 

 

 Direct staff benefits   9,608,491  8,208,154 

Defined contribution plans 

 

 263,984  247,310 

Other staff related expenses  

 

 612,786  468,141 

Total employee benefits expenses 
 

10,485,261 8,923,605 
    

(d)  Expense on operating leases: 

 

  

Lease payments 

 

915,302 822,096 

Total expense on operating leases 
 

915,302 822,096 
    

(e)  Research and Development expenses: 

 

  

Research and Development expenses* 

 

831,936 1,027,221 

Total Research and Development expenses 
 

831,936 1,027,221 

*eligible for R&D tax incentive 
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NOTE 6: INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 
 2017 2016 
 $ $ 
a) The components of income tax expense comprise:   

Current tax 272,838 (74,925) 

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years 41,874 (111,079) 

Relating to origination and reversal of timing differences including brought forward tax losses (179,318) 351,213 

 135,394 165,209 

b) Numerical reconciliation between aggregate tax expense recognised in Comprehensive 
Income tax expense calculated per statutory income tax rate: 

  

Profit / (loss) from operations (2,644,546) (2,159,916) 

Prima facie tax @ 30% on loss from ordinary activities before income tax  (793,364) (647,975) 

Adjust: tax effects of permanent differences arising from:   

Donation & Entertainment 385 181 

Fines and penalties - 140 

Amortisation and Impairment of intangibles 398,178 418,288 

Deferred Tax asset not created on losses/ deferred tax asset reversed 506,690 416,223 

R&D tax credit 149,749 169,491 

Effect of different tax rate in foreign jurisdiction - New Zealand (28%), India (31%), USA (39%) (138,375) (65,592) 

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years 41,874 (111,079) 

Other (29,743) (14,468) 

Income Tax Expenses reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 

135,394 165,209 

c) Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities:   

Opening balance 270,212 624,290 

Net Credited / (charged) to profit or loss 179,318 (351,213) 

Impact of exchange rate fluctuation (972) (2,865) 

Closing balance  448,558  270,212 

Gross Deferred Tax Asset 512,796 444,189 

Gross Deferred Tax Liability (64,238) (173,977) 

 448,558 270,212 

Deferred Tax Asset   
Depreciation 233,340 233,340 

Prepaid revenue 687,960 617,891 

Employee provisions 243,994 184,414 

Debt provisions 81,527 86,427 

Foreign currency gains & losses (162,429) (202,017) 

Brought forward loss 573,730 555,252 

Total Temporary Differences 1,658,122 1,475,307 

Deferred Tax Asset 512,796 444,189 

Deferred Tax Liabilities   

Depreciation (210,624) (454,611) 

Total Temporary Differences (210,624) (454,611) 

Deferred Tax Liabilities (64,238) (173,977) 
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NOTE 6: INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONT’D) 

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

The assessment of the probability of future taxable profit in which deferred tax assets can be utilised is based on the latest 
approved budget forecast, which is adjusted for significant non-taxable profit and expenses and specific limits to the use of 
any unused tax loss or credit. With ConSova these losses can be used against tax previously paid. The tax rules in the various 
jurisdictions in which the Group operates are also carefully taken into consideration. If a positive forecast of taxable profit 
indicates the probable use of a deferred tax asset, especially when it can be utilised without a time limit, that deferred tax 
asset is usually recognised in full. The recognition of deferred tax assets that are subject to certain legal or economic limits or 
uncertainties is assessed individually by management based on the specific facts and circumstances. 

Tax consolidation 

(i) Members of the tax consolidated group and the tax sharing arrangement 

The Group’s New Zealand based entities Medtech Ltd & MGL Capital Ltd have formed the only tax consolidated group 
within the business. The tax consolidated group is effective from 1 June 2008. MGL Capital Ltd is the head entity of this tax 
consolidated group. Under the New Zealand tax rules the members of the tax consolidated group assume income tax 
liabilities of the tax consolidated group should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. No amounts have 
been recognised in the financial statements in respect of this agreement on the basis that the possibility of default is 
remote. 

(ii) Tax effect accounting by members of the tax consolidated group  

All entities within the Group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts in relation to unused tax 
losses and timing differences. The current and deferred tax amounts are measured in a systematic manner that is consistent 
with the broad principles in AASB 112 Income Taxes. 
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NOTE 7: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 

  

   CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

Audit Services    

Auditor of the consolidated entity: 

 

 

 Pitcher Partners  111,192 101,363 
Other auditors of subsidiaries:    

V. Narayanan & Co.  892 936 

Haynie & Company  - 17,817 

  
112,084 120,116 

Non-Audit Services  
 

 
 

Ernst & Young - Taxation & other services 

 

- 76,732 

Other auditors of subsidiaries:    

V. Narayanan & Co.  - 224 

Haynie & Company  - 3,128 

  
- 80,084 

 

NOTE 8: EARNINGS / (LOSS) PER SHARE 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

  $ $ 

Earnings / (losses) used in calculating earnings / (losses) per share: 
   For basic earnings / (loss) per share:    

Net profit / (loss) from operations attributable to ordinary equity 
holders 

  (2,779,940) (2,325,125) 

Net losses used to calculate basic EPS   (2,779,940) (2,325,125) 

Basic earnings / (loss) per share  (2.77) cents (2.32) cents 

There are no dilutive instruments, therefore diluted earnings / (loss) per share is the same as basic earnings / (loss) per 
share. 

 
  No. of Shares No. of Shares 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year used in calculating basic EPS 

 100,248,061 100,248,061 

 

NOTE 9: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

Cash at bank and in hand 

 
 601,776  783,543 

Short-term bank deposits 

 

 338,501  761,155 

  
940,277 1,544,698 

The effective interest rate on short-term deposits was 0.85% (2016: 2.08%) and these deposits have an average 
maturity of 90 days. 

Refer note 24(a) for reconciliation of net profit after tax to net cash flow from operations. 
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NOTE 10: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

Trade receivables 

 
 3,103,144  2,537,569 

Allowance for impairment of receivables 

 

 (81,526) (86,427) 

  
 3,021,618  2,451,142 

 

(a) Allowance for impairment loss 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-60 day terms. An allowance for impairment loss is 
recognised when there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired. The impairment loss written 
back during the year is $ 5,845 (2016: 67,929). These amounts have been included in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. 

Movements in the allowance for impairment loss were as follows: 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

At 1 April  

 
 86,427  367,782 

Provision utilised during the year   -    (210,520) 
Amounts written back / recovered 

 

 (5,845) (67,929) 

Impact of exchange rate fluctuation 

 

 944  (2,906) 

At 31 March  
 

 81,526  86,427 
 

At 31 March, the ageing analysis of the allowance for impairment loss is as follows: 
 

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY TOTAL < 30 DAYS 31-60 DAYS 61-90 DAYS +91 DAYS 

2017 81,526 - - - 81,526 

2016 86,427 - 5,898 4,953 75,576 

 

At 31 March, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows: 
 

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY TOTAL < 30 DAYS 31-60 DAYS 61-90 DAYS +91 DAYS 

2017 3,021,618 2,469,309 165,085 163,525 223,699 

2016 2,451,142 1,988,999 164,288 49,617 248,238 
 

The balances past due as at the reporting date but not impaired, are expected to be received based on continuation of 
normal business subsequent to year end” and/or “negotiations subsequent to year end. 

At the reporting date, the directors have reviewed the carrying value of trade receivables to determine whether there is 
any indication that those assets have been impaired.  

 (b)  Fair value and credit risk 

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of their fair value. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of receivables. Collateral is not held as security, nor is it the 
Group’s policy to transfer (on-sell) receivables to special purpose entities. 

(c)  Foreign exchange and interest rate risk 

Details regarding foreign exchange and interest rate risk exposure are disclosed in note 3. 
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NOTE 11: INVENTORIES 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

Kiosk  32,934 52,043 

  
32,934 52,043 

 
NOTE 12: CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

 Country of Percentage Owned (%) 

 Incorporation 2017 2016 

    

Parent Entity    

Medtech Global Ltd Australia   

    

Subsidiaries of Medtech Global Ltd    

AHTL Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Medtech Healthcare Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Medtech Limited New Zealand 100 100 

Manage My Health Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

VitelMed Pty Limited Australia 100 100 

Compudoc Medical Pty Limited Australia 100 100 

DGS Artslet Pty Limited Australia 100 100 

MGL Capital Ltd New Zealand 100 100 

VitelMed Limited New Zealand 100 100 

Medtech Global Limited (NZ) New Zealand 100 100 

Medtech India Pvt Limited India 100 100 

Medtech Holdings USA, Inc. USA 100 100 

Medtech Global USA, LLC USA 85 85 

ConSova Corporation USA 100 100 

Manage My Health Global Pte. Ltd Singapore 100 100 
 

All entities within the Medtech Global Ltd Group, except Medtech Global USA, LLC, remain 100% owned by Medtech 
Global Ltd. As at the date of this report, Medtech Holdings USA, Inc. (a 100% Medtech Global Ltd-owned entity) owns 85% 
(2016: 85%) of Medtech Global USA, LLC.  

Medtech Holdings USA Inc. a wholly owned subsidiary of Medtech Global Limited has on the 31st October 2015 purchased 
all the non-controlling interests (49.9%) in Consova Corporation and in doing so has 100% ownership of the US based 
ConSova Corporation.  

Manage My Health Global Pte. Ltd was incorporated on 5th November 2015 as a wholly owned subsidiary of Medtech 
Global Limited with an initial subscribed capital of one Singapore dollar. 

There have been no other changes to the composition of the consolidated entity during the year. 
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NOTE 13: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

 
 2017 2016 

		   $ $ 

     
Leasehold Improvements   

 At cost  67,777 67,514 

Accumulated depreciation   (39,887) (26,949) 
 Net carrying value   27,890 40,565 

     
Computer Hardware   

 At cost   1,806,617  2,487,232 

Accumulated depreciation    (1,429,308) (1,921,425) 
 Net carrying value    377,309  565,807 

    
Office Equipment   

 At cost   381,266  421,038 

Accumulated depreciation    (291,330) (295,171) 
 Net carrying value    89,936  125,867 

    
Furniture and Fixtures   

 At cost   165,020  116,244 

Accumulated depreciation    (74,613) (64,269) 
 Net carrying value    90,407  51,975 

  
  Balance at the end of year   585,542 784,214 

 

 

(a) Movements in Carrying Amounts 

Movements in the carrying amounts for each class of plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of the 
current financial year: 

 

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENTS 

COMPUTER 
HARDWARE 

OFFICE 
EQUIPMENT 

FURNITURE & 
FIXTURES TOTAL 

		 $	 $	 $	 $	 $	
Consolidated Entity         

      
Year Ended 31 March 2016 

     Balance at the beginning of year 53,165 907,161 168,933 58,238 1,187,497 
Additions / (Disposals) - 116,749 9,173 9,476 135,398 
Depreciation expense (13,129) (417,286) (51,529) (12,169) (494,113) 

FCTR 529 (40,817) (710) (3,570) (44,568) 
Carrying Amount 31 March 2016 40,565 565,807 125,867 51,975 784,214 

      
Year Ended 31 March 2017 

     Balance at the beginning of year 40,565 565,807 125,867 51,975 784,214 

Additions / (Disposals) - 106,238 22,838 55,333 184,409 
Depreciation expense (13,030) (307,362) (60,475) (17,661) (398,528) 

FCTR 355 12,627 1,706 759 15,447 
Carrying Amount 31 March 2017 27,890 377,310 89,936 90,406 585,542 
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NOTE 14: INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

  CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

Goodwill    

Cost 
 

 2,059,207  2,059,207 

Accumulated impairment losses 
 

 (2,059,207) (2,048,355) 
Net carrying value 

 
 -    10,852 

    
Customer Relationships 

 
  

Cost 
 

 12,652,130  12,652,130 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 
 

 (12,652,130) (11,335,722) 
Net carrying value 

 
 -    1,316,408 

  

  
Development costs 

 
  

Cost 
 

 1,281,833  6,583,561 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 
 

 (1,281,833) (5,365,618) 

Impact of exchange rate fluctuation   -    10,608 
Net carrying value 

 
- 1,228,551 

    
Trademarks and Licenses 

 

  
Cost 

 
 6,583,561  6,502,365 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 
 

 (6,584,759) (6,496,218) 

Impact of exchange rate fluctuation   1,198  313 
Net carrying value 

 
-  6,460 

  
  

Total Intangible Assets 
 

 -  2,562,271 
 

 

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the financial year. 

 OPENING 
BALANCE 

ADDITIONS AMORTISATION IMPAIRMENT FCTR* CLOSING 
BALANCE 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Year ended 31 March 2017      

Goodwill 10,852 - -  (10,852) - - 

Customer relationships 1,316,408 -  (1,316,408) - - - 

Development costs 1,228,551 -  (1,229,749) -  1,198  - 

Trademarks & Licenses 6,460 -  (6,584) -  124  - 
  2,562,271   -     (2,552,741)  (10,852)  1,322   - 

* Impact of exchange rate fluctuation  
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NOTE 14: INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT’D) 
 

 OPENING 
BALANCE 

ADDITIONS AMORTISATION IMPAIRMENT FCTR CLOSING 
BALANCE 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

       Year ended 31 March 2016      
Goodwill 40,512 - - (29,660) - 10,852 
Customer relationships 2,681,040 - (1,364,632) - - 1,316,408 

Development costs 2,702,006 71,445 (1,555,508) - 10,608 1,228,551 
Trademarks & Licenses 12,884 - (6,737) - 313 6,460 

 5,436,442 71,445 (2,926,877) (29,660) 10,921 2,562,271 
 

(a) Intangible assets, other than Goodwill, have a finite life. Refer note 2. 

(b) Customer relationships are continuing to be amortised over a 3 year period. This is the last year of amortisation. 

(c) Where the asset is available for use, development costs are amortised over 3 years and are charged as an 
amortisation expense to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

(d) For further information on the accounting policy and treatment of goodwill / intangibles refer to note 1(o) and 
note 2. 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives: 

   Goodwill 

 

- 10,852 
 

Impairment Disclosures 

Intangible assets are subject to impairment. Goodwill, customer relationships and development costs are allocated to 
cash-generating units. 

  

CASH GENERATING UNITS - 2017 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

Australia New Zealand U.S.A 2017 

$ 

2016 

$ $ $ $ 
Goodwill  - - - - 10,852 

Customer relationships 

 

- - - - 1,316,408 

Development costs  - - - - 1,228,551 

Trademarks & Licenses  - - - - 6,460 

Total 
 

- - - - 2,562,271 
 

Goodwill, customer relationships and other intangible assets 

Impairment testing was performed in respect of intangible assets using a discounted cash flow model. Based on such 
testing, impairment of goodwill amounting to $ 10,852 was recorded in the books (2016: $ 29,660). No impairment was 
triggered for any other intangible as the book value of intangible assets is nil as at 31 March 2017. 

The recoverable amounts of the Australian, New Zealand and the US cash generating units were determined based on a 
value-in-use calculation using budget cash flow projections as at 31 March 2016 based on financial budgets approved by 
the board covering a one year period which is then extrapolated over a five year period. The growth assumptions over the 
five year projections and discount rates for each cash-generating unit are determined using historical performance, 
expectations of macro-economic factors and expectations of the Board of Directors. 
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NOTE 14: INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT’D) 

A value-in-use model was created to determine value-in-use as at 31 March 2016, which was based on management's 
most recent cash flow forecasts over five years, using a terminal growth rate of 3% which was based on management’s 
long term expectations and a discount rate of 16% for New Zealand and 15% for Australia. The discount rate considered is 
the weighted average cost of capital based on the expected debt equity ratio. The risk-free rates used in the calculation of 
weighted average cost of capital were lower by 0.24% for New Zealand and higher by 0.31% for Australia. The impact of 
this change has been assessed through a sensitivity analysis as explained below.          

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions 

Considering the headroom available and the remaining amortisation period of 1 year, any reasonably possible change to 
the assumptions of discount rate and / or growth rate will not cause impairment.  

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation and is allocated to cash-generating units which are based on the Group’s reporting 
segments for impairment testing. The cash-generating units are Australia, New Zealand and the US. These allocations are 
determined on a geographical component as units are subject to risk and returns different to other economic 
environments, and on aggregated operating units determined by the similarity of the products sold. 

 

NOTE 15: OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

Prepayments & other debtors 

 

128,530 418,322 

Deferred expenditure  108,572 101,334 

  237,102 519,656 

 

NOTE 16: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

Unsecured liabilities: 

 

 

 Trade payables 

 

 2,558,716  2,087,876 

Other payables and accrued expenses   670,146  924,674 

  
3,228,862 3,012,550 

 

(a) Fair Value 

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of their fair value. 

(b) Related party payables 

Amounts payable to related parties are non-interest bearing. (Refer Note 26 for amounts payable to related parties at 
reporting date) 

(c) Interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk 

Information regarding interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk exposure is set out in note 3.
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NOTE 16: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONT’D) 

(d) Deferred Revenue 

Deferred revenue represents revenue that has not yet been earned, but was invoiced to customers in accordance with 
contractual agreements. 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

CURRENT 
   Deferred Revenue 

 

987,074 899,881 

NON-CURRENT 

 

 

 Deferred Revenue 

 

- - 

  
987,074 899,881 

 
NOTE 17: INTEREST BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

CURRENT 
 

    

Borrowings  972,462 900,793 

  
972,462 900,793 

NON-CURRENT 
 

 
 

Borrowings  746,008 1,348,500 

  746,008 1,348,500 

Total current and non-current interest bearing loans & borrowings 
 

1,718,470 2,249,293 
 

(a) Fair values 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current and non-current borrowings are a reasonable approximation of their fair 
values.  

(b) Interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk 

Details regarding interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk are disclosed in note 3. 

(c) Defaults and breaches 

During the current and prior years, there were no defaults or breaches on any of the loans and borrowings. 

 (d) Securities 

The borrowing of $1,058,751 (2016: 1,305,586) from Bank of New Zealand is secured by way of a perfected security interest 
on the IT equipment purchased using the said borrowing, a general security interest on present and after acquired property 
including personal property in which the Company has current and future rights and an unlimited guarantee from Medtech 
Global Limited, the parent company, covering all obligations.  

(e) The Unused facilities: 

The unused facilities include overdraft facility of $ 64,991(2016: $ 82,442) from Bank of New Zealand, customised loan facility 
of $ 914,829 (2016: $ 450,938) from Bank of New Zealand. Interest rate would depend on rates applicable at the time of 
drawdown. 

(f) Related party payables 

Details regarding interest rate and repayment terms for amounts payable to related parties at reporting date are disclosed 
in note 26. 
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NOTE 18: PROVISIONS 

   

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

   

2017 2016 

   

$ $ 

Employee entitlements 

  

720,439 584,946 

   
720,439 584,946 

 

 

Movements in the provision were as follows: 

 

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  

 

2017 2016 

 

$ $ 

At 1 April  584,946 377,840 
Net movement in wage accruals 82,296 182,925 

Net movement in holiday pay accruals 53,197 24,181 

At 31 March  720,439 584,946 

All employee entitlements are expected to be paid within 12 months of balance date. 

 

NOTE 19: CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares:    

    

Movement in Ordinary Share Capital 

   Opening balance 1 April 

 

48,929,120 48,929,120 

Shares issued 

 

- - 

Closing balance 31 March 
 

48,929,120 48,929,120 

  

No. of Shares No. of Shares 

Movement in Number of Shares 
   Opening balance 1 April 

 

100,248,061 100,248,061 

Shares issued 

 

- - 

Closing balance 31 March 
 

100,248,061 100,248,061 
  

(a) Terms and conditions of issued capital 

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the company, to 
participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares 
held. 

Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or party at a meeting of the company. 

(b) Capital Management  

When managing capital, management’s objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to 
maintain optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Management also aims to maintain a capital 
structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to the entity. 

Management is constantly adjusting the capital structure to take advantage of favourable costs of capital and high returns 
on deposits. Due to changing market conditions, management may issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. No 
dividends were paid in the current or previous financial year. 
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NOTE 19: CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (CONT’D) 

Management monitor capital adequacy through the gearing ratio (net debt / total capital). The maximum gearing ratio 
for the Group is in the range of 125%-155%. The gearing ratios based on operations at 31 March 2017 and 2016 were as 
follows: 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

 

NOTE $ $ 

Total borrowings * 16 & 17  4,947,332  5,261843 
Less cash and cash equivalents 9  (940,277) (1,544,698) 

Net debt 

 

 4,007,055  3,717,145 

Total equity   (944,567) 1,962,273 

Total capital 
 

 3,062,488  5,679,418 

Gearing ratio (Net debt/Total Capital)  130.84% 65.45% 

* Includes interest bearing loans and borrowings and trade and other payables. 

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign subsidiaries. It is also used to record gains and losses on the net investments in foreign operations. 

 
 

NOTE 20: NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

Contributed equity 
 

(96,051) 293,218 
Non-controlling interest in profit /(loss) 

 

(3,012) (179,876) 

Acquisition of Non-Controlling Interest  - (209,393) 

  
(99,063) (96,051) 

 

[a] Non-controlling interest represents 15% (2016: 15%) non-controlling interest in Medtech Global USA, LLC as at 31 March 
2017.  
 
[b] Medtech Holdings USA Inc. a wholly owned subsidiary of Medtech Global Limited has on the 31st October 2015 
purchased all the non-controlling interests (49.9%) in Consova Corporation and in doing so has 100% ownership of the US 
based ConSova Corporation. (Refer Note 23 “Acquisition of Non- Controlling Interest in ConSova Corporation” for details.) 
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NOTE 21: CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS 

(a)  Finance Lease Commitments 

There were no finance lease commitments in existence at balance date. 

(b)   Operating Lease Commitments 

  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for 
property, equipment and services but not 
capitalised in the financial statements: 

   Payable 

   - Within one year 

 
924,573 722,494 

- After one year but not more than five years  1,902,233 1,396,740 
- More than 5 years   -    - 

  
 2,826,806  2,119,234 

 

1. There are no contingent rent payable under any of the lease agreements in force.  
2. The current lease arrangements do not have any purchase options relating to them but provide for renewal of 

lease arrangements for such a period of time and on such terms and conditions as mutually agreed on the date 
of renewal. 
 

(c)  Capital Expenditure Commitments 

There were no capital expenditure commitments in existence at balance date. 

 

NOTE 22: DIVIDENDS 

No dividends have been paid or declared since the beginning of the financial year (2016: Nil). 

 

NOTE 23: ACQUISITION OF NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST IN CONSOVA 
CORPORATION 

 

Medtech Holdings USA Inc. a wholly owned subsidiary of Medtech Global Limited has on the 31st October 2015 purchased 
all the non-controlling interests (49.9%) in Consova Corporation and in doing so has 100% ownership of US based ConSova 
Corporation.  

The purchase price under the agreement was US$1,300,000 (including contingent consideration of US$80,000 -refer Note 28 
for details). Of the total purchase price, US$ 400,000 was paid on the 31st October, 2015. The balance is payable in 
instalments over 40 months bearing a simple interest of 4.25% per annum. 

 

2017 2016 

 Amounts in US$ Amounts in US$ 

  Purchase Price - 1,300,000 

Less: Contingent consideration (Note 28) - 80,000 

Fair Value of consideration - 1,220,000 
   
 Amounts in AU$ Amounts in AU$ 
Fair Value of consideration in  - 1,708,000 

Acquisition of Non-Controlling Interest - 209,393 

Difference  - 1,498,607 
 

The difference of AUD 1,498,607 between the amount by which non-controlling interests were adjusted and the fair value of 
the consideration paid/ payable was classified as Acquisition of Non-Controlling Interest Reserve under Equity in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  
The balance purchase consideration payable as at 31 March 2017 was $ 635,287 (2016: $943,706). 
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NOTE 24: CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
(a)   Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Result from ordinary activities after Income Tax: 

	 	
CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

	 	
2017 2016 

		 		 $ $ 

Net profit / (loss) from ordinary activities after income tax   (2,779,940) (2,325,125) 

Non-cash flows in ordinary activities: 
 

 
 Impairment of intangibles 

 

10,852 29,660 

Amortisation of intangibles 
 

2,552,741 2,926,877 

Depreciation 
 

398,528 494,113 

  
 

 Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of purchase / 
disposal of subsidiaries: 

 

 
 

Decrease / (Increase)  in Deferred tax  
 

(178,346) 354,078 

Decrease / (Increase) in trade & other receivables 
 

(570,476) 148,477 

Decrease / (Increase) in other current assets 
 

282,554 (269,037) 

Decrease / (Increase) in inventories 

 

19,109 (46,473) 

Increase / (Decrease) in trade and other payables 
 

198,765 (371,978) 

Increase / (Decrease) in current tax liability 
 

98,851 (271,305) 

Increase / (Decrease) in provisions 		 135,493 207,106 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 		 168,131 876,393 

 

(b)   Non-cash Financing and Investing Activities 
There was no non-cash financing and investing activities during the financial year. 

 
(c)   Credit Standby Arrangements with Banks 

The unused facilities include overdraft facility of $ 64,991(2016: $ 82,442) from Bank of New Zealand, customised 
loan facility of $ 914,829 (2016: $ 450,938) from Bank of New Zealand. Interest rate would depend on rates 
applicable at the time of drawdown. 

 
NOTE 25: INFORMATION RELATING TO MEDTECH GLOBAL LTD (“The Parent Entity”) 
 

  

2017 2016 

  

$ $ 

Current Assets  

 
142,798 64,796 

Non-Current Assets  14,720,936 15,900,987 

Total Assets  
 

14,863,734 15,965,783 

Current Liabilities  

 

(704,668) (1,954,051) 

Non-Current Liabilities  - - 

Total Liabilities 
 

(704,668) (1,954,051) 

Contributed Equity  

 

48,929,120 48,929,120 

Accumulated Losses 

 

(34,770,054) (34,917,388) 

  
14,159,066 14,011,732 

Profit / (loss) of the parent entity 
 

147,334 320,596 
Total comprehensive income / (loss) of the parent entity  147,334 320,596 

 

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the parent company. 
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NOTE 26: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
 
 
Parent entity 
Cereus Holdings Ltd (incorporated in New Zealand) is the parent and the ultimate holding entity of the Group. 

Subsidiaries 

Interests in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 12. 

Transactions with related parties 

The following transactions also occurred with related parties: 

 

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

 

2017 2016 

 
$ $ 

Management and administration services   
Cereus Holdings Ltd – a company controlled by Mr. V. Ramayah (a) 1,788,116 1,501,345 

Software services & development  

 Inlogic Technologies Pvt Ltd – a company associated with Mr. V. Ramayah (b) 2,551,430 2,496,460 

Consulting services  

 CRM4Sight Ltd – a company controlled by Mr. S. Samaraweera 202,512 313,305 

Ross Tanner Consulting Ltd – a company controlled by Mr. R. Tanner 94,192 73,719 

Occupancy services   

Pinnacle Developments Ltd – a company controlled by Mr. V. Ramayah (c) 336,924 334,849 

Level 8 Ltd – a company in which Mr R. Tanner is a director 9,451 10,223 

Other   

Purchase of 48,400 shares of ConSova Corporation from M. Smith (KMP)* (d) - 1,680,000 

Interest payment to M. Smith on deferred purchase consideration (d) 34,766 18,825 
 

* M Smith ceased to be a Key Management Personnel from August 2015. 

(a) Fees for management and administrative services provided (including cost of personnel and proportion of 
overheads) are charged on a cost plus 10% mark-up basis based on time spent in providing these services. Refer 
Details of Remuneration for the details of executive remuneration component included above. 

(b) Software services provided are billed on the basis of hourly rates. Payment terms are within six months from the 
date of invoice and settled in cash. These hourly rates are in line with the quotations for similar services received 
from two unrelated third parties.  

(c) Expenses for occupancy services are in line with per square meter rate paid by other third party unrelated tenants 
occupying the space in the same building.  

(d) In the previous financial year, M. Smith sold 48,400 shares of Consova Corporation to Medtech Holding USA Inc. for 
a consideration of US$1,200,000. Of this consideration, US$ 300,000 was paid at closing date; US$ 820,000 is to be 
paid in 40 equal instalments bearing a simple interest of 4.25% per annum. Balance consideration of US$ 80,000 is a 
contingent amount payable in the event, and only in the event, ConSova Corporation or all or substantially all of 
its assets is or are sold within 18 months of the acquisition date for aggregate consideration valued at US$ 
2,700,000 or greater. (Refer Note 28)  

 
Transactions with Key Management Personnel (KMP) 

Details relating to KMP, including remuneration paid and outstanding provision, are as follows.  

Compensation 
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the consolidated 
entity is set out below: 
  

 

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  

 

2017 2016 

 

$ $ 

Short-term employee benefits 1,447,113 1,314,326 
Post-employment benefits 44,162 36,567 

Long-term benefits - - 

Share-based payments - - 

At 31 March  1,491,275 1,350,893 
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NOTE 26: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONT’D) 

Outstanding balances 

The following balances are receivable / (payable) at reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties: 

 

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 

 

2017 2016 

 $ $ 

Software services & development   

Inlogic Technologies Pvt Ltd - a company associated with Mr. V. Ramayah (i) (1,732,370) (1,669,100) 

Occupancy services   

Pinnacle Developments Ltd – a company controlled by Mr. V. Ramayah (i) (18,404) - 

Other   

Deferred purchase consideration payable to M. Smith (ii) (635,287) (943,706) 

Net receivable / (payable) (2,386,061) (2,612,806) 
 

(i)  Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash.  

(ii)  Outstanding balance at the yearend is to be paid in 23 equal instalments bearing a simple interest of 4.25% per annum. 

(iii)  There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. For the year 
ended 31 March 2017, the Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related 
parties (2016: $Nil). This assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of the 
related party and the market in which the related party operates.   

 
NOTE 27: EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 
 
There were no significant events subsequent to reporting date. (Previous year: Nil)  

 

NOTE 28: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES / ASSETS 

Medtech Holdings USA Inc (MHI) a wholly owned subsidiary of Medtech Global Limited (MDG) has on the 31st October 
2015 purchased all the non-controlling interests and in doing so has 100% ownership of ConSova Corporation. The purchase 
price under the agreement is a total of US$1,300,000. Of this US$ 80,000 is a contingent amount payable in the event, and 
only in the event, ConSova Corporation or all or substantially all of its assets is or are sold within 18 months of the acquisition 
date for aggregate consideration valued at US$ 2,700,000 or greater. The Group has no intention to sell ConSova 
Corporation or all or substantially all of its assets and consequently AU$ 104,657 equivalent to US$ 80,000 has been shown as 
contingent liability as at 31 March, 2017. (2016: AU$ 104,316 equivalent to US$ 80,000).  
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NOTE 29: DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVES’ COMPENSATION

  

 (a) Compensation of Key Management Personnel 

 
SHORT-TERM 

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
POST-EMPLOYMENT 

BENEFITS 
LONG-TERM 

INCENTIVE 
PLANS 

SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT 
OPTIONS 

TOTAL 

2017 1,447,113 44,162 - - 1,491,275 
2016 1,314,326 36,567 - - 1,350,893 
 

(b)   Equity Instruments 
Options and rights granted as compensation 

No options were granted to the KMP during the financial year. 

Equity instruments issued on exercise of remuneration options 

No options were exercised by the KMP during the financial year. 

Shareholdings 

The number of shares held by Parent Company Directors and Key Management Personnel: 

DIRECTORS BALANCE 31 
MARCH 2015 

OTHER NET 
CHANGE * 

BALANCE 31 
MARCH 2016 

OTHER NET 
CHANGE * 

BALANCE 31 
MARCH 2017 

Mr V Ramayah 70,809,262 - 70,809,262 272,300 71,081,562 

Mr D Stuart 750,000 - 750,000 - 750,000 

Mr R Clarke 109,000 - 109,000 - 109,000 

Mr M Gaylard 120,000 - 120,000 - 120,000 

 

Mr V Ramayah has an interest of 71,081,562 shares in the company held by Cereus Holdings Ltd. 

Mr D Stuart has an interest of 750,000 shares held directly. 

Mr R Clarke has an interest of 10,000 ordinary shares held directly, 89,000 shares held by R G Clarke & Associates Ltd, and 
10,000 shares held by The Russell Clarke Family Trust. 

Mr M Gaylard has an interest of 120,000 shares held directly. 

* Other Net Change refers to shares purchased or sold during the financial year. 



OTHER
INFORMATION
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Shareholder Information 
 

The issued capital of the company as at 31 March 2017 is 100,248,061 ordinary shares. There are no outstanding options. 

Distribution of Shareholdings as at 31 March 2017 

NUMBER OF SHARES NUMBER OF 
SHAREHOLDERS 

1-1,000 61 

1,001-5,000 51 

5,001-10,000 96 

10,001-100,000 107 

100,001 or above 32 

Total Shareholders * 347 

Percentage of total shares on issue held by top 20 largest shareholders 93.9% 

* All shares have equal voting rights 

Top 20 Shareholders as at 31 March 2017 

SHAREHOLDER NUMBER PERCENTAGE 

Cereus Holdings Limited         71,081,562  70.9% 

Custodial Services Limited      5,441,491  5.4% 

HSBC Custody Nominees           3,899,958  3.9% 

Ravindran Govindan           3,339,085  3.3% 

Deepak Mamtani               3,000,000  3.0% 

Carrier International Pty       1,033,567  1.0% 

J P Morgan Nominees Australia   897,646  0.9% 

Khoo Siew Ngoh                  776,250  0.8% 

Darryl Stuart  750,000  0.7% 

Leandro Pacheco                 660,000  0.7% 

Pushpa Bose                     480,500  0.5% 

Connaught Consultants           421,393  0.4% 

Kevin Noel Reynolds          404,563  0.4% 

Daly SF Pty Ltd                 369,309  0.4% 

Roger Binet Brown               360,875  0.4% 

DBS Vickers Securities          270,230  0.3% 

Mui Enterprises Pty Ltd         265,527  0.3% 

Mrs Santhi Ramachandram         250,000  0.2% 

Mr Gregory Patrick Hoggard  222,500  0.2% 

Mr Roger Alan Bowie             208,750  0.2% 

Total Shares on issue held by 20 Largest Shareholders  94,133,206  93.9% 
 

Substantial Shareholders as at 31 March 2017 

Cereus Holdings Limited   
 

Restricted Securities 

There are no securities of the company on issue that are restricted. 

 



Notes
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